SUPREME COURT COPY



In the Supreme Court of the State of California

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

LUIS OSCAR SANCHEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S188453

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR - 9 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F057147

Deputy

Tulare County Superior Court, Case Nos. PCF204260A, VCF166696A, and VCF180279

The Honorable Juliet L. Boccone, Judge

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
DANE R. GILLETTE
Chief Assistant Attorney General
MICHAEL P. FARRELL
Senior Assistant Attorney General
BRIAN G. SMILEY
Supervising Deputy Attorney General

ISSUES PRESENTED

The substantive issue in this case is whether a criminal defendant has a substantial right to have a trial court reject his post-conviction request for a hybrid form of representation. The procedural issue in this case arises because the conviction was founded on defendant's guilty plea, so that his right to appeal certain issues is subject to judicial screening. This Court's order granting review stated the issues as follows:

- (1) When a defendant indicates after conviction the intention to move to withdraw a plea on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel, is the trial court obligated to conduct a hearing on the issue whether to discharge counsel for all purposes and appoint new counsel (*People v. Marsden* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 118)?
- (2) Was defendant required to obtain a certificate of probable cause (Pen. Code, § 1237.5) in order to raise this issue on appeal?

INTRODUCTION

A times, a just-convicted defendant may persuade a trial court to appoint additional, special counsel for the limited purpose of exploring the prospect of moving to set aside the conviction on a theory the conviction resulted from ineffective assistance of counsel. If special counsel makes no motion, or if a motion is made but denied, special counsel's duties end, and proceedings continue with defendant represented by original counsel. (E.g., *People v. Dickey* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 884, 920-921 (*Dickey*).) While a defendant has no right to such additional counsel, the court's allowance thereof may shorten delay and disruption.

Substantively, for the reasons in the Argument, a court violates no cognizable duty by allowing a defendant such additional counsel, in lieu of forcing the defendant to prove current counsel should be discharged.

Procedurally, as stated in the Argument, even assuming a lack of jurisprudence in the Court of Appeal's election to order issuance of the certificate of probable cause necessary to reach the counsel issue, that court

had subject matter jurisdiction to make the order. This Court accordingly faces no bar to reaching the merits of the representation issue.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After March 26, 2007 grants of probation in cases VCF180279 and VCF166696 (CT 279-289), defendant on October 28, 2008, appeared in court in a third case, number PCF204260, with his counsel deputy public defender Nathan Leedy. (CT 295-296.) In light of an indicated sentence of 32 months (CT 296), but expressly against attorney Leedy's advice (CT 300), defendant on that date entered guilty pleas and admissions to felony marijuana cultivation (Health & Saf. Code, § 11358) with a prior strike (Pen. Code, § 1170.12), and misdemeanor contributing to delinquency of a minor (Pen. Code, § 272, subd. (a)(1)) and giving false information to a police officer (Pen. Code, § 148.9, subd. (a)). (CT 296-303.)

On December 2, 2008, the time set for sentencing, defendant appeared with deputy public defender Tony Dell'Anno, who said defendant wanted his office to "explore" whether his plea could be withdrawn. (Dec. 2, 2008 RT 3.) The court asked if Dell'Anno would do that exploration, or if the court should appoint "conflict counsel" to represent defendant in that task. Dell'Anno said he believed that if an appointment were made under a theory of "conflict," the court had to proceed under *People v. Marsden*, and find defendant already had been denied effective assistance. Dell'Anno said his office would look into possible withdrawal as counsel. (*Ibid.*)

The court recognized no withdrawal motion pended (i.e., defendant was represented, and counsel filed no motion). Focusing on representation strictly, the court said Dell'Anno on December 9 was to "give [the court] an update as to whether counsel needs to be appointed or that you need to file a motion on his behalf as his representative." (Dec. 2, 2008 RT 3-4.)

On December 9, defendant appeared with deputy public defender Kimberly Barnett, who asked the court to appoint a "conflict attorney." (Dec. 9, 2008 RT 3.) The court recited that the reason for delay had been to allow the public defender's office to look into whether "conflict" counsel needed to be appointed with respect to "a motion to withdraw his plea." (*Ibid.*) Accepting Barnett's view of that necessity, the court stated, "I am going to appoint conflict counsel for the sole purpose of looking into the motion to withdraw his plea." (*Ibid.*) Neither Barnett nor defendant objected to that procedure, or said another procedure was desired. (*Ibid.*)

The court asked if defendant waived time for sentencing. Defendant did not address the issue of representation; he sought to address the court on his own, as if representing himself, stating, "Well, actually I wanted to change the plea to not guilty." (Dec. 9, 2008 RT 3.) Again confining the issue to representation, the court stated,

In order to do that, they have to get a motion filed to give you a good reason for that and in order to get a motion filed I have to appoint another attorney to figure out the reason why you want to withdraw your plea.

(*Ibid.*) The court set December 30 to hear any plea-withdrawal motion. The court told defendant to consult with "conflict counsel" and receive "advice" from such counsel regarding "that." (*Id.*, p. 4.)

On December 30, 2008, defendant appeared with both Leedy and "conflict counsel" Wes Hamilton. (Dec. 30, 2008 RT 3.) Hamilton said that while defendant personally wanted to withdraw his plea, Hamilton was not filing such a motion as defendant's representative. Hamilton found no basis for a motion. (*Ibid.*) With defendant's counsel declining to file a motion, the court stated, "In light of that we will do the sentencing," and, "All right he is on for sentencing and so it goes back to you [attorney Leedy] representing him." (*Ibid.*) Again, there was complete acquiescence on the question of representation. (*Ibid.*)

On January 2, 2009, defendant appeared for sentencing with attorney Leedy. As required (Pen. Code, § 1200), the court asked if there was "legal

cause" why sentence should not be pronounced. (CT 338.) Leedy had no "legal cause"—i.e., Leedy did not intend to file a plea withdrawal motion to occasion a new trial. (See Pen. Code, § 1201.) But Leedy volunteered that defendant was unhappy the motion would not be filed. (CT 338.) With no motion pending, the court did not engage the issue, but noted defendant's legal representative had declined the motion in his professional judgment. (CT 338.) Defendant was sentenced. (CT 339-344.)

On appeal, the People argued the sole issue was whether defendant's substantial rights were violated (Pen. Code, § 1258), an issue dependent on whether he objected to any claimed error in procedure (Pen. Code, § 1259). The People argued *Dickey* affirmed on indistinguishable facts, precluding relief. (Respondent's Brief in the Fifth Appellate District [RB], pp. 4-11.)

In a published opinion the Court of Appeal disagreed, reversing and remanding for defendant to seek what he had already received—exploration, by unconflicted counsel, whether to make a plea-withdrawal motion. (Ex. A, pp. 12-13.)

The People filed a Petition for Rehearing [Rehg. Pet.]), pointing out (1) the opinion conflated the issue of unconflicted representation with the issue of motions which an unconflicted representative could make; (2) the opinion failed to address the question of substantial rights of a defendant, instead focusing on the concept of "error"; (3) the opinion misstated the People's representations; and (4) *Dickey* was not distinguishable and it governed the result to be reached in this case. (Rehg. Pet., pp. 1, 4-9.) The Court of Appeal denied rehearing.

ARGUMENT

I. A TRIAL COURT'S DISCRETIONARY POWER TO APPOINT COUNSEL IS NOT PRE-EMPTED BY MARSDEN

This Court has recognized a court's discretion to appoint counsel for a litigant, even when he has no actual right to such appointment. (*People v.*

Bigelow (1984) 37 Cal.3d 731, 742; see People v. Lawley (2002) 27 Cal.4th 102, 145; see also People v. D'Arcy (2010) 48 Cal.4th 257, 282 ["[N]one of the 'hybrid' forms of representation, whether labeled 'cocounsel,' 'advisory counsel,' or 'standby counsel,' is in any sense constitutionally guaranteed." (some internal quote marks omitted)].) That includes discretion to assess if additional counsel should be appointed to cure a discrete defect in current counsel's ability, or if it is instead necessary to substitute counsel altogether due to a pervasive defect with current counsel. (People v. Lancaster (2007) 41 Cal.4th 50, 72; cf. People v. Weaver (2001) 26 Cal.4th 876, 951 [duties may be divided between counsel, even in capital case].)

The question presented by this case is whether this judicial discretion is curtailed in some special manner (i.e., limited by something other than the judge's sound reason) when a convicted defendant requests additional counsel for the limited purpose of exploring a motion to set aside the current conviction on a theory current counsel was ineffective. assistance of counsel. That is to say, in that context is the court instead limited to outright substitution of counsel for all purposes, if the defendant can show current counsel may be compromised even as to a single task?

A. Dickey Supports the Trial Court's Action

This Court has already indicated the trial court is not so limited as to available options in that context. In *Dickey*, *supra*, this Court noted that after the guilt phase in defendant Dickey's capital trial, his current counsel asked the court to appoint an additional attorney for the limited purpose of a motion to set aside the convictions—via a new trial motion as to the guilt phase—on a theory of ineffectiveness of current counsel. (*Dickey*, *supra*, 35 Cal.4th at pp. 918-919, 920-921.) The trial court granted the request just as Dickey (through counsel) made it, i.e., the court appointed separate counsel to explore the motion. (*Id.* at p. 920.)

This Court rejected Dickey's appellate claim the trial court had a duty to explore the issue of representation beyond the scope of what was requested—specifically, to initiate sua sponte an inquiry whether Dickey would like to sever entirely his relationship with current counsel:

We conclude the court did not commit *Marsden* error. "'Although no formal motion is necessary, there must be 'at least some clear indication by defendant that he wants a substitute attorney." '[Citations.]" Defendant did *not* clearly indicate he wanted substitute counsel appointed for the penalty phase. To the extent he made his wishes known he wanted to use counsel's assertedly incompetent performance in the guilt phase as one of the bases of a motion for new trial, and he wanted to have separate counsel appointed to represent him in the preparation of such a motion. As his expressed wishes were honored, he has no grounds for complaint now."

(*Dickey*, *supra*, 35 Cal.4th at pp. 920-921, original emphasis.)

As in *Dickey*, the single purpose indicated by the defense here, in seeking judicial action with respect to counsel, was appointment of an additional attorney to provide representation in connection with a possible motion to set aside the conviction based on current counsel's alleged ineffectiveness. (See Dec. 9, 2008 RT 3.) The only difference between this case and *Dickey* is that in *Dickey* the desired attack on the conviction was a motion for new trial because the conviction followed a trial, while in this case the desired attack would have to be in the form of a motion to set aside a guilty plea because defendant here waived trial.

But that is no distinction at all. Once accepted, a guilty plea is itself a conviction, no less than a conviction reached by verdict after a trial. (See *People v. Alfaro* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 1277, 1300 [a guilty plea "'"is itself a conviction; nothing more remains by to give judgment and determine punishment"'"].) Thus, no matter whether a defendant files a "new trial" motion after a trial, or he files a plea-withdrawal motion because he waived trial, the substance of the motion is a request to set aside a *conviction*.

Doubtless, in both contexts, care should be exercised rather than the court reflexively electing to appoint counsel, else the defendant is granted the ability to manipulate the course of his representation. That of course did not happen here. Here, the court relied on the representation by current counsel (Dec. 9, 2008 RT 3), after having given current counsel time to investigate whether separate counsel was necessary to ensure unconflicted representation in with respect to a motion claiming ineffectiveness (Dec. 2, 2008 RT 3-4). The trial court properly could rely on the representations of counsel asserting a conflict. (See *Cuyler v. Sullivan* (1980) 446 U.S. 335, 346; *Holloway v. Arkansas* (1978) 435 U.S. 475, 485-486.) The trial court's election to appoint a different attorney with respect to the post-conviction motion therefore is unassailable. And, as *Dickey* makes plain, the court had no duty sua sponte to invite defendant to seek termination of current counsel's representation entirely.

B. Neither *Marsden* nor *Smith* Contradict the Trial Court's Action

Nothing in *People v. Marsden* even suggests a contrary conclusion. In that case this Court confronted a narrow defect, in that a defendant had asked midtrial for substitution of counsel, and the trial court denied the request without letting the defendant give reasons to justify his request. (*Id.*, 2 Cal.3d at p. 120 [issue was that "trial court denied his motion to substitute new counsel without giving him an opportunity to state the reasons for his request"].) This Court held "it was error to *deny* his motion without an opportunity for explanation." (*Id.* at p. 124, emphasis added.)

Thus *Marsden* involved a request to substitute counsel entirely, and the request was denied without opportunity to explain why it should be granted. In starkest contrast, this case involved a request for additional counsel only, and the trial court granted the request in the manner in which it was requested.

Nor, contrary to the opinion of the Court of Appeal, is *People v. Smith* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 684 (*Smith*) authority for a contrary proposition. In *Smith* this Court confronted a trial court's *denial* of a request for appointment of counsel. After noting *Marsden* had held "a defendant has no absolute *right* to more than one appointed attorney" (*Smith*, *supra*, at p. 690, emphasis added, citation and internal quotation marks omitted), this Court held that substitution of counsel is to ensure future effective assistance (*id.* at p. 695 ["Whenever the motion is made, the inquiry is forward-looking in the sense that counsel would be substituted in order to provide effective assistance in the *future*." (original emphasis)]). This Court then broadly stated:

We stress equally, however, that new counsel should not be appointed without a proper showing. A series of attorneys presenting groundless claims of incompetence at public expense, often causing delays to allow substitute counsel to become acquainted with the case, benefits no one. The court should deny a request for new counsel at any stage unless it is satisfied that the defendant has made the required showing. This lies within the exercise of the trial court's discretion, which will not be overturned on appeal absent a clear abuse of that discretion.

We thus hold that substitute counsel should be appointed when, and only when, necessary under the *Marsden* standard, that is whenever, in the exercise of its discretion, the court finds that the defendant has shown that a failure to replace the appointed attorney would substantially impair the right to assistance of counsel [citation], or, stated slightly differently, if the record shows that the first appointed attorney is not providing adequate representation or that the defendant and the attorney have become embroiled in such an irreconcilable conflict that ineffective representation is likely to result [citation]. This is true *whenever* the motion for substitute counsel is made. There is no shifting standard for the trial court to apply, depending upon when the motion is made. . . .

(Id. at p. 696, original emphasis.)

Read literally, this broad language would indicate a trial court should deny a request for substitution of counsel unless the defendant himself

makes a particular showing on the record. But this Court has admonished against attempting to apply broad language broadly:

Language used in any opinion is of course to be understood in the light of the facts and the issue then before the court, and an opinion is not authority for a proposition not therein considered.

(People v. Superior Court (Marks) (1991) 1 Cal.4th 56, 65-66, citation and internal quotation marks omitted; accord People v. Sapp (2003) 31 Cal.4th 240, 262 [rejecting reliance on "dictum"].) The issue in Smith was

Under what circumstances *must* the trial court substitute new counsel in place of the first attorney for future representation, including investigation and, if appropriate, presenting a claim that the first attorney was ineffective?

(Smith, supra, 6 Cal.4th at p. 687, emphasis added.) In other words, the actual issue in Smith was whether in a given context a criminal defendant had a right to a requested change in his representation.

But the issue whether a defendant has a right to a thing (i.e., whether he may complain about being *denied* a thing he has requested) is quite distinct from the issue whether he may complain after his request for that thing was *granted*. This Court in *Smith* in no way conferred upon a defendant the right to complain when a trial court grants his request for a change in representation, with or without him having made the proper justification for his request.

See Rowen v. Santa Clara Unified School District (1981) 121 Cal. App.3d 231, 236 ("In any event, the question raised here was not discussed in that opinion. Moreover, the court's pronouncement in that case was gratuitous, . . ."); Savoy Club v. Board of Supervisors (1970) 12 Cal. App.3d 1034, 1041 ("Appellants' authority for the validity of their position is Bostick v. Martin, 247 Cal. App.2d 179 [], Although certain pronouncements, from an overall standpoint, sustain appellants' present argument we believe they should be considered in the context of the circumstances there presented.").

Thus, this Court's repeated admonitions against using language of an opinion out of context dictated the limits of *Smith*'s application. In *Smith*, the question was neither presented, nor considered, whether a criminal defendant could complain about the *grant* of his own request for additional counsel. It follows that *Smith* is not "authority for a proposition" as to that point. (*People v. Superior Court (Marks)*, *supra*, 1 Cal.4th at pp. 65-66.) Indeed, this Court in *Dickey* did not even cite to *Smith* when finding the trial court had no duty sua sponte to commence inquiry whether current counsel should be replaced for all purposes.

In sum, the trial court had no duty sua sponte to inquire whether defendant wished to remove current counsel for all purposes, when the only defense motion below was for appointment of separate counsel for an indicated purpose of assisting a motion to set aside the conviction. The contrary holding by the Court of Appeal should be reversed.

II. A REQUIRED CERTIFICATE OF PROBABLE CAUSE IS PRESENT

As to the second issue presented by this Court on review, the People respond to the issue raised explicitly, and the issue which appears implicit.

A. A Certificate of Probable Cause Was Required

As noted in the Statement, defendant's conviction resulted from a plea of guilty. To raise any issue "going to the validity of [his] plea," he had to obtain a certificate of probable cause. (*People v. Buttram* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 773, 781.) This Court's second stated issue implicitly asks, at least, if the issue here goes to the validity of the plea.

It does. A challenge as to how a court proceeded with respect to a trial-level effort designed to invalidate the plea is necessarily a challenge going to the validity of the plea. Whether the challenge is direct or indirect does not matter. (*People v. Johnson* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 668, 678-679; 680-682.) Defendant's trial court-level request for appointment of counsel was

to obtain assistance in challenging the plea. His appellate claim, attacking how the trial court rulings affected that effort, and seeking another trial court opportunity to attack the plea—is therefore necessarily a claim going to the validity of the plea. (*People v. Johnson, supra*, at pp. 680-682.) A certificate of probable cause therefore was required.

B. The Court of Appeal Had Subject Matter Jurisdiction to Direct Issuance of a Certificate of Probable Cause

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