SUPREME COURT COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF) Supreme Court No.
CALIFORNIA,) S188453
Plaintiff and Respondent,)
• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·) Court of Appeal No.
v.) F057147
)
LUIS OSCAR SANCHEZ,) Superior Court Nos.
Defendant and Appellant.) PCF204260A
) VCF166696A
) VCF180279

Fifth Appellate District
Tulare County Superior Court, Honorable Juliet L. Boccone, Judge

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS



Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Diane Nichols State Bar No. 174830 P.O. Box 2194 Grass Valley CA 95945 530-477-8448 dianelnichols@aol.com

Attorney for Defendant And Appellant Luis Oscar Sanchez

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

Respondent cites *Smith*, *supra*, 6 Cal.4th 684 for the proposition that a defendant has no "right to complain when a trial court grants his request for a change in representation." (RBOM 9.) As the opinion noted, "respondent's analysis is superficial and misses the point" in arguing that *Smith* cannot be relied upon to support the proposition that appellant cannot complain that the court granted his request for an additional attorney. (Typed opn., p. 9.) As the opinion indicates, appellant never relied upon *Smith* for that proposition (typed opn., p. 9), nor does appellant do so now.

Respondent fails to analyze the Court of Appeal's opinion and does not even mention the cases upon which it relies, *People v. Eastman* (2007) 146 Cal.App.4th 688 ("Eastman"), People v. Mendez (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 1362 ("Mendez"), and People v. Mejia (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 1081 ("Mejia"), or their reasoning. In Eastman, supra, 146 Cal.App.4th 688, the defendant pled guilty but, at sentencing, his attorney told the court that the defendant wanted to withdraw his plea and asked the court to appoint substitute counsel, and the defendant's mother submitted a letter to the court requesting an "adequate defense" and accusing his attorney of misconduct. (Id. at pp. 695-696.) The trial court appointed a second attorney "for the specific grounds of determining [the] motion to withdraw," and the attorney appointed solely for that purpose later announced he would not be filing such a motion because he had found no grounds, after which the first defense attorney resumed his representation.

(*Id.* at pp. 691, 693.) The appellate court found the trial court's duty to conduct a *Marsden* hearing had been triggered because, even though the defendant had not expressly asked to have his attorney replaced, his complaints "set forth an arguable case that a fundamental breakdown had occurred in the attorney-client relationship that required replacement of counsel." (*Id.* at pp. 695-696.)

Similarly, in *Mejia*, *supra*, 159 Cal.App.4th 1081, although the Attorney General argued there that "no *Marsden* hearing was ever requested for either [defendant] nor is there anything in the record to suggest the trial court should have divined such an intent," the court concluded the record showed that the defendant "instructed his counsel to move for a new trial largely on the basis of his counsel's performance at trial and that his counsel so informed the trial court." (*Id.* at p. 1086.) The court reasoned "[t]hat was adequate to put the trial court on notice of defendant's request for a *Marsden* hearing." (*Ibid.*)

Likewise, in *Mendez*, *supra*, the Attorney General argued that the defendant made a new trial motion "based on competency of counsel' but emphasizes that he never indicated 'he wanted another attorney' and on that basis argues that the trial court had no duty to conduct a *Marsden* hearing." (*Id.* at p. 1366-1367.) The appellate court reasoned that the defendant notified his trial attorney that he was making a new trial motion based on

competency of counsel, which was adequate to put the trial court on notice of his request for a *Marsden* hearing. (*Id.* at p. 1367.)

Finally, in *People v. Stewart* (1985) 171 Cal.App.3d 388 ("*Stewart*"), disapproved on another ground in *Smith*, *supra*, 6 Cal.4th at p. 696, the defendant "personally instructed his appointed trial counsel to file a motion for new trial on the basis of incompetence of counsel," which was adequate to put the trial court on notice of his request for a *Marsden* hearing. (*Stewart*, *supra*, 171 Cal.App.3d at pp. 393, 396-397.)

Here, as in *Eastman*, *Mendez*, *Mejia*, and *Stewart*, appellant's request for a "conflict" attorney to determine whether ineffective assistance of counsel provided a basis for a motion to withdraw the plea was sufficient to put the trial court on notice of the necessity for a *Marsden* hearing.

Nor does respondent comment on *People v. Richardson* (2009) 171

Cal.App.4th 479 ("*Richardson*"), the only published case disagreeing with *Eastman, Mendez*, and *Mejia*. In *Richardson*, the defendant argued *Marsden* error on appeal, after he had submitted a post-conviction letter detailing the inadequacy of his representation at trial and seeking a new trial motion, and the court had appointed separate counsel to investigate whether there were grounds for a new trial. (*Id.* at p. 485.) However, in contrast to the defendants in *Eastman, Mendez*, and *Mejia*, the defendant in *Richardson* had made requests of trial counsel which were "utterly inconsistent with a request for substitute counsel," contradicting any

request to substitute counsel. (17 Cal.App.4th at p. 485.) More significantly, like the procedure advocated by respondent, application of the *Richardson* procedure to cases where the desire for substitute counsel is clearly indicated does not comply with *Marsden*, is a waste of judicial resources, and does not protect a defendant's constitutional right to counsel.

The basis of the opinion in the case sub judice (and of *Eastman*, Mejia, and Mendez) is three-fold, vindicating the values underlying Marsden, ensuring judicial economy, and protecting a defendant's Sixth Amendment rights. First, the opinion comports with the principles expressed in *Marsden* by providing a procedure that avoids the court's abrogation of its obligation and its delegation of those decisions to appointed counsel. "[T]he court cannot abandon its own constitutional and statutory obligations to make the ultimate determination itself based upon the relevant facts and law of which the court is made aware by some legally sanctioned procedure." (Eastman, supra, 146 Cal.App.4th at p. 697.) The Court of Appeal criticized both defense counsel and the trial court in the present case for reliance on specially appointed counsel "to do the court's job of evaluating the defendant's assertions of incompetence of counsel and deciding the defendant's new trial or plea withdrawal motion." (Typed opn., p. 12, fn. 4.) In the procedure used by the trial court here, and advocated by respondent, there was no exercise of judicial discretion... When defense counsel first mentioned appellant wanted to withdraw his

25

plea, the court here asked counsel if counsel could file the motion or whether conflict counsel was needed, telling counsel to "let me know whether or not conflict counsel needs to be appointed" (Aug. RT 12/02/2008 p. 3). At the next hearing, counsel stated conflict counsel needed to be appointed, and the court appointed conflict counsel. (Aug. RT 12/09/20078 p. 3.) A defendant making a Marsden motion must show "good cause for replacing appointed counsel." (People v. Ortiz (1990) 51 Cal.3d 975, 986.) Free substitution as a matter of right presents "an undesirable opportunity to 'delay trials and otherwise embarrass effective prosecution' of crime [Citation.]" (ibid.), but that is exactly what happened here. Defense counsel asked for appointment of a conflict attorney, and a conflict attorney was appointed as a matter of right, without any showing of good cause. A trial court cannot "intelligently deal with a defendant's request for substitution of attorneys unless [the court] is cognizant of the grounds which prompted the request" and it is an abuse of discretion not to listen to such reasons. (Marsden, supra, 2 Cal.3d at p. 123.) In fact, it is an abuse of discretion to appoint substitute counsel for all purposes where, following a *Marsden* hearing, there has been no showing that current counsel does not or cannot adequately represent the defendant. (Ng v. Superior Court (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 1010, 1023.) Appellant never received any exercise of the court's discretion, because the court delegated to counsel an evaluation of his own effectiveness as well as the decision

whether conflict counsel was required and delegated to the separate attorney an evaluation of whether the first attorney was ineffective.

Second, the opinion provides a procedure which is economically sound and which follows this court's dictates in Smith, supra, 6 Cal.4th 684. As this court stated, "[t]he spectacle of a series of attorneys appointed at public expense whose sole job, or at least a major portion of whose job, is to claim the previous attorney was, or previous attorneys were, incompetent discredits the legal profession and judicial system, often with little benefit in protecting a defendant's legitimate interests." (Id. at p. 695.) This court specifically denounced "the appointment of simultaneous and independent, but potentially rival attorneys to represent [a] defendant." (*Ibid.*) If a *Marsden* motion is granted, new counsel should be substituted in for all purposes in place of the first attorney who is relieved of further representation. (*Ibid.*) If the *Marsden* motion is denied, "the defendant is not entitled to another attorney who would act in effect as a watchdog over the first." (*Ibid.*) Under the *Eastman* procedure, the trial court screens the need to appoint any attorney at all by holding a *Marsden* hearing to determine whether a failure to replace the appointed attorney would substantially impair the defendant's right to effective assistance of counsel. While an expression of dissatisfaction triggers a hearing, it does not compel a finding of inadequate representation unless the defendant shows that failure to replace counsel would substantially impair his right to assistance

of counsel. (*People v. Welch* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 701, 728.) If the court does find substantial impairment, the first attorney is relieved, and a second substituted, effectuating appellant's right to effective assistance of counsel. On appeal, the record contains the basis for the *Marsden* motion, streamlining appellate review. Under respondent's procedure, trial counsel merely needs to ask for the appointment of a second, separate attorney in order to receive one. Separate counsel may frequently be appointed under respondent's procedure where no such need for any substitution would be found under the *Eastman* procedure. Even respondent appears to recognize the perils of its position, suggesting that "care should be exercised rather than the court reflexively electing to appoint counsel." (RBOM 7.)

Third, the opinion ensures a defendant's constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel. A defendant is entitled to competent representation at all times, including when he seeks to withdraw his plea. (Smith, supra, 6 Cal.4th at p. 965.) Under respondent's procedure, the court adopts the first attorney's conclusion about his effectiveness and then adopts the second attorney's conclusion about the first attorney's effectiveness, entirely insulating the first attorney's performance from a proper evaluation by the trial court. Further, respondent's procedure thwarts any appellate adjudication of a defendant's constitutional right to counsel, because the record is silent as to basis of the defendant's complaint about counsel's performance.

D. The Matter Must Be Remanded With Directions To Hold A Marsden Hearing.

Reversal and remand is required. *Marsden* error is reviewed under the prejudice standard of Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18 [87] S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705]. (*Marsden, supra*, 2 Cal.3d at p. 126.) The test is not whether it can be ascertained that the defendant had a meritorious claim. Rather, "[b]ecause the defendant might have catalogued acts and events beyond the observations of the trial judge to establish the incompetence of counsel, the trial judge's denial of the motion without giving defendant an opportunity to do so denied him a fair trial." (Marsden, supra, 2 Cal.3d at p. 126.) Here, there were at least three demonstrable errors related to the taking of the plea as to which appellant might have claimed ineffective assistance of counsel, had he been heard by the court. First, at the beginning of the hearing, defense counsel indicated that his client wanted to plead "no contest." (2 CT 296.) Defense counsel then stood by silently while appellant entered a plea of "guilty." (2 CT 301; see also 2 CT 358 [minute order showing plea of guilty].) Second, in the felony complaint in case number PCF204260A, the prosecution pled that appellant had suffered a strike, i.e., a conviction of residential burglary in case number VCF166696A. (2 CT 353.) In case number VCF166696A, appellant was initially charged with attempted residential burglary (§ 664/459), but the information was amended to vandalism (§ 594, subd.

(b)(1)) at the plea, and appellant pled guilty to felony vandalism and admitted a gang-benefit enhancement (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)(B)). (1 CT 113, 145; Aug. RT 2/5/2007 pp. 6-7.) Defense counsel stood by silently in the instant proceeding while appellant admitted he had "suffered a prior conviction pursuant to Penal Code Section 1170.12(a) through (d) and 667(b) through (i) by committing or being convicted of a violation of *Penal Code Section 459, first degree*, in February of 2007, Case 166696." (2 CT 301, emphasis added.) Vandalism with a gang-benefit enhancement (the offense to which appellant had actually pled guilty) may constitute a serious felony and thus a strike. (*People v. Briceno* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 451, 464 [any felony with gang-benefit enhancement constitutes serious felony under § 1192.7].) However, defense counsel permitted his client to admit as a strike an offense of which he was never convicted, residential burglary.

Third, a petition to revoke probation was filed in case number VCF166696A (1 CT 146, 2 CT 291), but no such written petition is found in the clerk's transcript or superior court file for case number VCF180279. (But see 2 CT 291 [arraignment on VOP in 180279; minute order indicates "basis of VOP: filing of case PCF204260A"].) Due process of law (U.S. Const., 14th Amend; *Morrissey v. Brewer* (1972) 408 U.S. 471, 481 [92 S.Ct. 2593, 33 L.Ed.2d 484]) requires procedural safeguards for probation revocation proceedings, which includes written notice of the claimed violations under section 1903.2, subdivision (b) and *In re Moss* (1985) 175

Cal.App.3d 913, 929-930 [minimum due process requirements of *People v. Vickers* (1972) 8 Cal.3d 451, 458 not satisfied when no notice of motion to revoke probation filed].)

E. Conclusion.

The opinion of the Court of Appeal is well-reasoned, effectuates the principles underlying *Marsden*, protects a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel, and establishes a judicially economical procedure. This court should affirm the decision of the Court of Appeal and remand the matter to the trial court with directions to hold a *Marsden* hearing.

THIS COURT SHOULD DISMISS REVIEW AS TO WHETHER A CERTIFICATE OF PROBABLE CAUSE IS REQUIRED TO REACH THE MERITS OF THE FIRST ISSUE, BECAUSE THE QUESTION IS MOOT IN THE INSTANT CASE; IN THE ALTERNATIVE, IF A CERTIFICATE IS REQUIRED, IT WAS GRANTED, AND THE APPELLATE COURT WAS AUTHORIZED TO DIRECT THE LOWER COURT TO GRANT IT.

A. Introduction, Proceedings Below, And Standard Of Review.

Respondent maintains a certificate of probable cause ("certificate") was required to reach the *Marsden* issue on appeal. (RBOM 10-11, citing *Johnson*, *supra*, 47 Cal.4th at pp. 678-682.) However, respondent agrees that appellant timely complied with the requirements of section 1237.5 (RBOM 11), that the lower court issued a valid certificate (RBOM 13), that the appellate court had authority to order the lower court to issue the certificate (RBOM 13-14), and that the appellate court had jurisdiction to reach the merits of the *Marsden* issue once the certificate had issued (RBOM 13-14). Respondent explicitly asks this court not to review the merits of the certificate issue. (RBOM 13-14.) Based on the procedural posture of this case, respondent fails to present this court with a justiciable controversy.

Appellant asks this court to dismiss the certificate issue as moot. In the alternative, while appellant agrees arguendo that a certificate may have been necessary for the appellate court to reach the *Marsden* issue under the circumstances of this case, but there was a valid certificate, which the appellate court had the authority to direct the lower court to grant, and thus the appellate court could validly decide the *Marsden* issue on the merits.